IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,593

ROBERT DAVID HEINEY

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

SUMMARY INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON APPEAL OF DENIAL OF MOTION FOR FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.850 RELIEF

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative

JUDITH J. DOUGHERTY MARK A. EVANS

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 4, 1978, Robert Heiney left Houston, Texas. The State presented evidence at trial that he was hitchhiking and low on money and that on June 5, 1978, he was allegedly seen in the company of the victim. On June 6, 1978, the decedent was found near Holt, Florida. He had been killed by several blows to the head. There were only slight defensive wounds and the decedent's bloodalcohol level was .28.

a

All of the evidence against Mr. Heiney was circumstantial and the State featured <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence of another shooting a few days earlier and credit card receipts purportedly signed by Mr. Heiney to obtain a conviction. In fact, only four of the numerous receipts were identified as being in Mr. Heiney's handwriting. Evidence that the victim was in the company of Phillip Cook just before the murder and that two of the receipts signed "Phillip Cook" were not in Mr. Heiney's handwriting was never presented to the jury.

Initially, Mr. Heiney was charged with second degree murder. It was only after an inmate in the jail, Thomas Tuyziski, told the authorities that Robert Heiney had admitted the offense to him that the State sought a grand jury indictment. This was two months later, on August 24, 1978 (R. 2).

Tuszynski stated that Robert Heiney told him that both he and the decedent were drunk, and when the decedent started hollering, he hit him to quiet him down and then went on hitting him with a hammer that had been left in the car (App.II, 1).

Mr. Heiney did not testify. He was convicted of first degree murder on March 2, 1978. On March 8, 1979, the jury returned a recommendation of life imprisonment. The court sentenced Mr. Heiney to death (after finding three aggravating and no mitigating factors) on March 29, 1979. Mr. Heiney's conviction and sentence were affirmed by this Court, with two Justices

dissenting. Heinev v. State, 447 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 1984).

Mr. Heiney's Rule 3.850 motion was filed on January 2, 1987, as was required by the Rule. At the time Mr. Heiney's 3.850 motion and subsequent amendment were filed, CCR counsel were actively engaged in preparing similar motions for six inmates who, like Mr. Heiney, also fell under the recently established time limitation provisions of the Rule. Unfortunately, at the time virtually all of CCR's resources were directed toward representation of individuals who, by virtue of the Governor's issuance of death warrants, were facing imminent execution. As a result, Mr. Heiney and other CCR clients in a similar posture were not provided with the level of professional and diligent representation which is contemplated by Rule 3.850 and by the statute creating CCR and mandating it's post-conviction representation of all death row inmates in the state. See Fla. Stat. sec. 27.001, et seq. (1987); Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988). At the time that the amendment was filed, counsel informed the court: "Because the instant Motion therefore still does not represent Mr. Heiney's case in its best and fullest light, Mr. Heiney respectfully requests that this court grant him a reasonable time within which to complete the prepatory and investigatory process and further amend this motion. . . . " Subsequent to the filing of the amended motion, the trial court took no action and the State filed no responsive pleadings for two years.

On April 20, 1989, the Governor of Florida issued a death warrant ag inst
Mr. Heiney, and execution was set for June 6, 1989. On April 20, 1989, Judge
Wells filed a summary of denial of all claims <u>nunc pro tunc</u> to April 12, 1989.
Mr. Heiney filed a Consolidated Emergency Motion for Rehearing, etc., including a request for an evidentiary hearing and an application for stay of execution on
May 1, 1989. On May 5, 1989, Judge Wells disqualified himself and Judge Ben
Gordon was assigned to the case.

On May 30, 1989, Judge Gordon entered orders prepared by the State dismissing the Consolidated Motion and granting the State's requested corrections of the order denying post-conviction relief. This appeal follows.

INTRODUCTION

The sentencing court committed error by allowing counsel to be constrained in presenting, and by failing itself to consider, nonstatutory mitigation contrary to Hitchcock v. Dunner. The jury instructions clearly limited the consideration of mitigation to the statutory mitigating factors; the sentencing order and on-the-record statements of the sentencing court showed that its consideration was precluded. A judge is presumed to follow his jury instructions regarding mitigation. Zeigler v. Dunner, infra. But here the Hitchcock error is much, much clearer. Indeed, the State conceded that this issue is properly before the post-conviction courts. In its sentencing order the trial court specifically stated that: "the Court has carefully reviewed those seven mitigating circumstances contained in Florida Statutes 921.141(6)(a-g)." Although the court made one brief reference about residual doubt, no consideration whatsoever was given to the substantial nonstatutory mitigation which appears in the record. The Court failed to consider evidence of cooperation with the police, capacity for remorse, mental instability, use of drugs and alcohol, impulsive behavior, the victim's behavior when intoxicated, Mr. Heiney's behavior in the courtroom and his prior nonviolent criminal record.

The trial court order denying Rule 3.850 relief on the <u>Hitchcock</u> issue never addressed this failure. Instead the Court denied relief because trial counsel relied on mitigation in the record instead of introducing evidence at the penalty phase (contrary to <u>Harvard v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>) and because <u>Lockett</u> was argued, but

³Counsel for Mr. Heiney did not receive the State's Proposed Order until May 30, 1989 after this brief had already been prepared.

not addressed by this Court, on direct appeal, contrary to innumerable post-<u>Hitchcock</u> precedents of the Florida Supreme Court (discussed in the body of this brief).

In Mr. Heiney's case, both the judge and jury were constrained in their consideration of nonstatutory mitigation. The jury nevertheless returned a life recommendation. The judge, however, overrode that recommendation and imposed death, failing to consider evidence of nonstatutory mitigation. Indeed, both the judge and state high court in Mr. Heiney's case failed to properly consider and evaluate the jury override here, pursuant to Hitchcock (See Claim I, Habeas Petition). Of course, resentencing is proper under Hitchcock whenever the record reflects even an ambiguity as to whether the sentencing judge's consideration of nonstatutory mitigation has been constrained. See Woods V. Dunaer, infra; Morgan v. State, infra. Here, however, there is no true ambiguity.

Mr. Heiney was denied an individualized and reliable capital sentencing determination. His entitlement to relief on the merits is obvious: the proceedings resulting in his sentence of death violated the mandate of <u>Hitchcock</u> V. Duaner.

At the time of the offense and at trial, Mr. Heiney was mentally ill. As an indigent whose mental capacity is at issue at all stages of a capital case, Mr. Heiney was entitled to a competently conducted psychiatric or psychological evaluation. Defense counsel obtained Linda Haese, an unlicensed "staff psychologist," for that purpose. By relying on demonstrably unreliable information gleaned solely from personal reporting, by failing to seek information from an independent source, and by using grossly inadequeate testing procedures and failing to professionally evaluate the limited testing that she did perform, Ms. Haese reached conclusions about Mr. Heiney's mental condition which were at best unreliable and which totally failed to establish long term

mental deficiencies.

a

а

а

а

Mr. Heiney can now demonstrate that information available to Ms. Haese, had she sought it out (or had counsel rendered effective assistance by obtaining it and providing to her or even asking the right questions), would have established, inter alia, that Mr. Heiney's lack of intent and premeditation at the time of the alleged offense, and would have unquestionably established sufficient statutory and nonstatutory mitigating evidence to preclude a sentence of death or otherwise alter the outcome of the sentencing proceeding. The expert appointed in this case failed to provide the professionally adequate expert mental health assistance to which Mr. Heiney was entitled. Her evaluation was, in fact, grossly inadequate. None of the relevant and crucial background facts regarding Robert David Heiney's mental, emotional, and psychological background were ever sought out, looked at, or considered. No adequate testing was performed. A cursory self-report interview, perfunctory testing, and the pro forma presentation of opinions based solely on what little was gleaned from such an interview is <u>all</u> the mental health "assistance" that Robert David Heiney received. This is not enough, and falls far short of what the law and the profession mandate.

Had an adequate history been obtained, Mr. Heiney's history of severe headaches, substance abuse, head injury, and child abuse would have been discovered. None of these facts appear in Ms. Haese's report. Her total discussion of Mr. Heiney in her report (as opposed to general information) consisted of sixteen sentences. A background investigation would have revealed that as a small child, Robert Heiney was constantly beaten and was chained to a cement block in the front yard. Due to the severe abuse and neglect, as a child he would deliberately run into passing cars resulting in serious head injury. These facts, however, never made their way before the judge and jury. Counsel

and the expert failed their client.

а

а

а

Ms. Haese's "evaluation" deprived Mr. Heiney of his most essential rights -i.e., it directly caused important, necessary, and truthful information to be
withheld from the tribunal charged with deciding whether Mr. Heiney was guilty of
first-degree murder, and whether he should live or die. The doctor's actions
directly "precluded the development of true facts," and "serve[d] to pervert" the
sentencer's deliberations concerning the ultimate questions whether in fact
Robert David Heiney was guilty of first degree murder and whether he should live
or die, Smith v. Murray, infra. An evidentiary hearing is required. The lower
court erred in failing to conduct one.

Trial counsel not only failed to obtain adequate mental health expert assistance and not only failed to make any inquiry regarding the mental health mitigating factors, see State v. Michael, 530 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 1988), but also failed to present witnesses to establish Mr. Heiney's severe abuse of alcohol and heroin and state of intoxication at the time of the offense. In fact, counsel unreasonably and with no tactic relied solely on mitigation which appeared in the trial record and presented no evidence in the penalty phase. Further, trial counsel showed gross ineffectiveness during the guilt-innocence phase of the trial. He failed to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation. He not only failed to present defense witnesses but he failed to question witnesses presented by the State regarding addiction to alcohol and heroin. He failed to obtain and argue a correct circumstantial evidence instruction in a circumstantial evidence case. He failed to investigate or present evidence of a second person who was using the victim's credit cards at the time of the murder, and he failed to obtain an independent handwriting expert to establish that Robert Heiney did not sign the "Phillip Cook" receipts. (See infra). Counsel failed his client and an evidentiary hearing was required.

The State's case against Robert Heiney rested on circumstantial evidence regarding his use of the victim's credit cards in combination with "Williams Rule" evidence involving a prior shooting and evidence that Mr. Heiney was a homosexual and a pimp, We now know that through a combination of suppression and mischaracterization of evidence, and ineffectiveness of counsel, important facts regarding the offense were never heard by the jury. The jury never heard evidence that another person, named Phillip Cook, was signing the victim's credit cards at the time of the murder. The jury never knew that Phillip Cook had left an alcohol rehabilitiation center with the victim just six days before the victim's death and that the handwriting on the receipt was not Robert Heiney's.

The following pretrial, trial and post-trial events show why the jury and this Court were misled as to the circumstantial evidence against Mr. Heiney:

- 1. The State knew Phillip Cook was a real person who left the rehabilitation center with the victim a few days before the murder.
- 2. The State knew there were two receipts signed by Phillip Cook on the two days preceding the murder.
- 3. The State knew that of all of the credit card receipts which had come back on the victim's credit cards, only four had been identified as being Mr. Heiney's handwriting.

However, knowing all of this the State misinformed the jury by:

- 1. Telling the jury that the Mastercard company must have made a mistake when Phillip Gook's receipts were included.
- 2. Arguing that Mr. Heiney used the credit card at numerous loctions including Valdosta, Georgia when there was no handwriting identification and the receipts were not admitted into evidence (R. 743, 1275).
- Failing to obtain a handwriting analysis of a Mossyhead, Florida receipt dated June 6, 1978 and arguing that Mr. Heiney had signed it.
- 4. Telling the jury that Phillip Cook's identity was unknown and unimportant (R. 1253).
- 5. Possibly removing the Philip Cook receipts from Exhibit 106 after it was admitted into evidence and before it went to jury (See Claim I).

6. Asking the jury to disregard Phillip Cook because the Phillip Cook receipts were introduced into evidence "inadvertently" (R. 1253).

Since the trial, investigation has revealed that the Phillip Cook receipts were apparently not provided to the jury even though they had been admitted into evidence, that the Phillip Cook signatures were not made by Robert Heiney and that the State was in possession of evidence that Phillip Cook had been in the company of the victim shortly before the murder.

а

a

a

From these facts Mr. Heiney has raised <u>Giglio/Brady</u> issues of prosecutorial misconduct as well as ineffective assistance of counsel. A related issue is the subsequent discovery through independent investigation that the first degree indictment was obtained through the use of perjured testimony of the jailhouse informant, Thomas <u>Tuszynski</u>. The claims required evidentiary resolution. The lower court erred in failing to afford any.

The State relied completely on collateral evidence in attempting to show motive in this circumstantial evidence case. On direct appeal this Court expressed concern about the use of "Williams Rule" evidence; "a closer question is presented by testimony relating to Heiney's lifestyle and his relationship with Tawanna Williams. Any error which may have occurred in admitting this particular testimony, however, was harmless." Justices McDonald and Boyd dissented on the grounds that the collateral evidence was not harmless error. When the effect of the Williams Rule evidence is considered in combination with the suppression of evidence regarding Phillip Cook and the special standards applicable to a circumstantial evidence case, it can no longer be said that the introduction of the collateral evidence was harmless error (See Claim IV, Habeas Petition, Claim V, infra). Further, the prejudice resulting from the Williams Rule evidence was exacerbated by the court's refusal to permit cross-examination of the State's key Williams Rule witness, David Benson. The court's denial of this fundamental right was based on the fact that defense counsel conferred with

Mr. Heiney for "one to two minutes" before beginning his cross-examination. The court stated for the record that this unusual ruling was occasioned by the court's anger at counsel for allegedly commenting that the court seemed more favorable to the State. On direct appeal, this Court found the trial counsel's motion to recuse Judge Wells insufficient as a matter of law; however, Mr. Heiney has now documented the court's intent to take revenge on Mr. Heiney through sworn affidavits and Judge Wells has recused himself. An evidentiary hearing was required on these issues. The lower court afforded none.

Mr. Heiney has raised thirteen additional, meritorious claims in his pleadings which he is able to refer to only briefly due to time limitations but which are addressed in the trial court pleadings and the Petition for Habeas Corpus pending before the Court. They are incorporated herein and Mr. Heiney urges that this brief be reviewed in conjunction with his lower court pleadings. As will be demonstrated, a stay of execution, an evidentiary hearing, and Rule 3.850 relief would be more than appropriate in this case.

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

THE RULE 3.850 COURT'S SUMMARY DENIALS OF MR, HEINEY'S MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE, THE DENIAL OF THE <u>HITCHCOCK</u> CLAIM AND HEARING, AND THE STRIKING OF THE CONSOLIDATED MOTION, WERE ERRONEOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT.

а

a

а

6

The lower court summarily denied Mr. Heiney's claims without conducting any type of hearing, without adequately discussing whether (and why) the motion failed to state valid claims for Rule 3.850 relief (it does), without any adequate explanation as to whether (and why) the files and records conclusively showed that Mr. Heiney was entitled to no relief (they do not), without citing those portion of the record which conclusively show that Mr. Heiney is entitled to no relief (the records support Mr. Heiney's claims). In this regard the lower court erred. Subsequent to the page and a half order summarily denying Mr.

Heiney's Rule 3.850 action, Judge Wells disqualified himself based on allegations that he had threatened to take adverse action against Mr. Heiney at the time of sentencing.

Further, in the Order dismissing the Consolidated Motion for Rehearing, etc., penned by the State, the lower court refused to address any of the issues raised in regard to rehearing on the grounds that the claims had been "renumbered" and the petitioner was "rearguing" the issues. The Court's findings are contradictory in that the petitioner is castigated on the one hand for simply reviewing and rearguing all issues and on the other hand for raising new considerations.

The court, signing the State's order, ruled that Mr. Heiney's Consolidated Emergency Motion for Rehearing (herein "Gonsolidated Motion") was a "successive" motion filed after two years of "inactivity" by Mr. Heiney and the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR). Quite to the contrary, Mr. Heiney's pleading is not a "new" motion. It was a reconstruction of the January, 1987, pleading and the April 2, 1987, amended pleading, and a request for rehearing regarding what counsel submitted was an erroneous disposition of this action. As will be demonstrated below, the facts and claims supporting the Consolidated Motion were raised in those prior pleadings, albeit inartfully, due to the press of time caused by the necessity to file several 3.850 motions mandated by the two-year rule. The consolidated motion placed facts and claims already presented in proper context. In addition, the emergence of new facts and changes in the law in the ten years since Mr. Heiney's trial took place (and since the January, 1987, filing) paint a rather different picture than what was presented

⁴Given the manner in which Mr. Heiney's case had to be litigated, the sloppiness came with the turf. It should also be noted that the attorneys who initially handled the Rule 3.850 action left the CCR office.

by the State at trial and reviewed by this Court on appeal.' Indeed, the inactivity in Mr. Heiney's case has been on the part of the State and the trial court. First, the State never responded after January, 1987, or the April 2, 1987, filings. The State has yet to properly respond to those pleadings. Second, the court set no hearing date, required no responsive pleadings from the State, and entered its order denying relief on April 20, 1989, nunc pro tunc to April 12th, thirteen days after Governor Martinez signed a death warrant for Mr. Heiney. CCR was in the process of clarifying the facts and claims previously set forth in the prior pleadings and in the process of uncovering serious improprieties committed by the State when the warrant was signed. The motion was then pending.

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