IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT DAVID HEINEY,

Appellant,

V.

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

This issue was never raised at trial or on appeal.

Facts: Claim X ("Automatic Aggravating Factor")

This issue was not raised at trial or on appeal.

Facts: Claim XI (Non-Statutory Aggravating Factors)

This issue was not raised at trial or on appeal.

Facts: Claim XII (Burden Shifting)

This issue was not raised at trial or on appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Inasmuch as Mr. Heiney's brief apparently will not be filed until late Tuesday, May 30, 1989, the State is submitting this anticipatory brief for the convenience of the Court. The State does not want to be in a position of having its arguments filed on Thursday for a Friday morning argument. Due to the nature of this brief, we have addressed every issue presented by Heiney to the lower court. We request leave to supplement the brief to respond to any new issues Heiney might raise.

Pursuant to Harris v. Reed, ____ U.S. 57 U.S.L.W. 4225 (1989), state courts must clearly and unequivocally enforce their procedural default rules in collateral proceedings.

Mr. Heiney filed two successive Rule 3.850 petitions. The latter, raising twelve issues, was time-barred. The former, raising thirteen claims, raised procedurally barred issues except for a Hitchcock claim that was correctly resolved under a harmless error analysis.

The record fully supports the Circuit Court's findings on all counts.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF

Robert David Heiney's first motion for post-conviction relief (as amended) raised thirteen assorted claims, all of which were properly denied.

Motions for post-conviction relief are not substitutes for direct appeal, Clark v. State, 533 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988); Bundy v. State, 14 F.L.W. 43 (Fla. 1989); nor are they a vehicle for a second appeal (or rehearing of a prior appeal). Francis v. State, 529 So.2d 670 (Fla. 1988); Straight v. State, 488 So.2d 530 (Fla. 1986); Adams v. State, 484 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 1986); Tafero v. State, 459 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1984); Jones v. State, 446 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1984); Zeigler v. State, 452 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1984).

Summary denial of a post-conviction motion based upon a careful review of the relevant record is, of course, allowed. Runyon v. State, 460 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Glock v. State, 14 F.L.W. 29 (Fla. 1989).

Mr. Heiney's thirteen claims from his first (3.850) petition may be disposed of as follows:

Claim I (Informant)

Mr. Heiney contended that his Sixth Amendment rights under Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964), were violated when the State allegedly directed a jailhouse "snitch", Tom Tuszynski, to speak to him.

Mr. Tuszynski testified before the Grand Jury but did not testify at trial. The trial court, addressing a pretrial challenge to the indictment predicated upon Tuszynski's veracity, ruled that Heiney would have been indicted even without Tuszynski's testimony. (R 455).

The Appellant's motion for post-conviction relief was summarily denied. The court cited to the fact that Tuszynski did not testify, but the trial court's primary ruling was that the complaint should have been raised on direct appeal.

Since Mr. Heiney was keenly aware of the Tuszynski issue prior to trial, and since Massiah was already fifteen years old at the time of trial, the finding that this issue could and should have been raised on direct appeal is clearly correct and should be affirmed. See Harris v. Reed, ____, 57 U.S.L.W. 4225 (1989).

Even using the test of "harmless error", however, summary denial was proper on this record.

First, the record shows that Tuszynski's testimony was unrecorded, so we do not have proof for Heiney's claim that this provoked his indictment.

Second, the Court felt that the strong circumstantial evidence in this case would have provoked an indictment even without Tuszynski.

¹ Curiously, according to later affidavits and pleadings filed by Heiney, Tuszynski lied to the jury and did not, therefore, relate the actual conversations anyway.

Third, Tuszynski did not testify at trial, yet Heiney was still found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt: a significantly greater standard of proof than that required for a mere indictment.

Thus, any error attributable to the use of Mr. Tuszynski centers upon Heiney's indictment, not his conviction. The Supreme Court has already held that errors relating to the Grand Jury may be rendered harmless by a subsequent conviction. United States v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66 (1986); Costello v. United States, 350 U.S. 359 (1956).

Still, the State notes that this issue was, and is, procedurally barred and, pursuant to Harris v. Reed, supra, urges affirmance on that basis.

Claim II (State Vindictiveness)

Mr. Heiney contends that initial charges of a lesser degree of homicide and/or plea negotiations estop the State from ever seeking an indictment for capital murder.

This issue was recognized as one capable of being heard on direct appeal in Francis v. State, 529 So.2d 670 (Fla. 1988). (In fact, a similar claim was raised on direct appeal in Francis while a related, unappealed issue was noted as being procedurally barred). The issue, if not wholly fanciful (there being no right of estoppel as alleged), could and should have been raised on direct appeal. It is procedurally barred.

Claim III (Constitutionality of "Enhanced Penalty")

again, Heiney alleged that some pretrial discussions bound the court not to sentence him to death, believes that therefore. he t.he iurv override unconstitutional. This issue, like II above, clearly could and should have been raised on direct appeal along with Heiney's other challenges to the jury override. It is procedurally barred.

Claim IV (Miranda Violation)

Mr. Heiney alleged that his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (966), were violated when the police presented him with a search warrant for his vehicle and asked him, prior to searching, if he had property in the car. Mr. Heiney also alleges that this issue was "known" and available and that trial counsel was ineffective for not raising it. (Petition, pq. 28).

Heiney has conceded that this claim was available in 1978-1979 and could, if preserved, have been raised on appeal. See e.g. Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96 (1975). The trial court's finding of a procedural bar is clearly correct.

Claim V (Ineffective Counsel: Failure to Record Every Proceeding)

Robert Heiney was allowed to represent himself on his own motion. Mr. Pascoe merely assisted Mr. Heiney as co-counsel. In Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), the Supreme Court held that no person who serves as his or her own lawyer will be

heard on any post-trial claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. This standard has been followed by this Honorable Court. Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1986). It has also been followed where the defendant was not pro se but still directed his lawyer's activities. LoConte v. Dugger, 847 F. 2d 745 (11th Cir. 1988); Foster v. Strickland, 707 F. 2d 1339 (11th Cir. 1983); Foster v. Dugger, 823 F. 2d 402 (11th Cir. 1987).

For this reason Mr. Heiney's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel (himself) or co-counsel cannot be considered.

Claims VI, VII and VIII (Ineffective Counsel)

The State, again, relies upon Faretta and Bundy.

Claim IX (Hitchcock)

To the extent Mr. Heiney argued a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Faretta and Bundy control.

The actual issue here is one of "Hitchcock" error. It is undisputed that Hitchcock error can be harmless, Clark v. State, 533 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988); Tafero v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1988); Johnson v. Dugger, 520 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1988); Demps v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 1987), so the only issue on appeal since trial courts can now review Hitchcock claims, Hall v. State, 14 F.L.W. 101 (Fla. 1989) - is whether the trial judge was clearly erroneous in his decision. If the judge's decision is

Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. _____, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987). Although this petition was filed a few months prior to publication of Hitchcock, it raises the same issues and Heiney, like Straight and other Florida cases, shows that the "working tools" for Hitchcock claims existed prior to April of 1987.

supported by the record - even if some facts are disputed - it is still presumptively correct and the evidence will not be reweighed on appeal. **Tibbs** v. **State**, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981).

By corrected order, on rehearing, the trial court found:

- (1) The "Hitchcock" instruction was given.
- (2) The defense called no witnesses during either the guilt or penalty phases, but:
- (3) The defense relied solely upon the non-statutory mitigating factors or residual doubt about guilt, religion, the horror of electrocution and even a bit of golden rule argument. (R 1312-1319).
- (4) Defense counsel specifically **told** the court he was **not restricted** to the statutory or any other list relating to mitigation and could argue whatever he liked. (R 1315).
- (5) Defense counsel won a life recommendation from the jury.
- (6) The trial judge considered, though he rejected, the non-statutory mitigating factor of residual doubt.
- (7) On₃ appeal, this Court rejected Heiney's **Lockett** argument.

Thus, no **Hitchcock** or **Lockett** error is present and the trial court should be affirmed.

Heiney may allege that Judge Wells did not discuss every possible non-statutory mitigating factor. This, we know, is not required. Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982); Johnson v. Wainwright, 806 F.2d 1479 (11th Cir. 1986); Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir. 1985); Raulerson v.

Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978). It is interesting that on direct appeal Heiney's brief alleges that the jury considered non-statutory mitigating evidence. Heiney's currect argument is merely a political shift to take advantage of the Hitchcock case. The claim is not serious.

Wainwright, 732 F.2d 803 (11th Cir. 1984); Dobbert v. Strickland, 718 F.2d 1518 (11th Cir. 1983). In fact, Hitchcock error is not to be presumed just because a record is silent. Johnson v. Wainwright, supra.

In addition to this wealth of record support, the court's findings are enhanced by Heiney's incredibly weak "mitigating circumstances".

- (A) "Heiney's "non-violent" criminal record" (excluding the shooting and the murder at bar) is offset by its length and by his inability to be rehabilitated.
- (B) "Heiney surrendered peacefully". That is to be expected. This is not mitigation.
- (C) "Heiney drank beer in the past". This would no more "mitigate" Heiney's sentence than the proof of alcohol use did in Lambrix v. State, 534 So.2d 1151 (Fla. 1988). The victim, not Heiney, was drunk.
- (D) "Heiney was bright (IQ 118) and his own lawyer". The State does not know if lawyers are that popular, but assuming this is so, the jury could well conclude that Heiney was too bright to be leading a life of crime and, as in Bundy, even react negatively.
- (E) "Heiney was kind to the last person he shot". This evidence would not help. Clark v. State, supra.

Given the strong record support for the trial judge's decision and the absence of any realistic mitigation, the lower court's finding of harmless error must stand. Tibbs, supra.

Claim X (Race of Victim: Death Penalty)

This issue is one of the race-motivated challenges to capital punishment that could have, if preserved, been raised on direct appeal. Of course, McCleskey v. Kemp, ____ U.S. ____, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987), mooted the issue years ago.

Claim XI ("Tuszynski II")

Again, the record shows that the defense deposed Tuszynski prior to trial and specifically alleged that he lied to the Grand Jury. This issue could and should have been raised on appeal, but per Mechanik, supra, and Costello, supra, was meritless in any event.

Claim XII (Williams Rule Error at Trial)

Again, a trial issue which was appealable and thus procedurally barred.

Claim XIII (Ineffective Counsel)

See arguments re: Faretta, above. Heiney was a career criminal who did well in not calling his relatives - who we assume he knew even if his co-counsel did not. Since Heiney subpoenaed other witnesses for various hearings - are we to believe he could not produce his own "caring" sisters?

Clearly, all thirteen claims in Heiney's original petition, as amended, were correctly denied.

This brings us to Heiney's second successive Rule 3.850 petition.

Heiney sat on his case for over two years, making no move to further amend the case or move it along. But for Governor Martinez' warrant, the case would still be idle and the successive petition would not have been filed.

The signing of a death warrant is not the signal to begin researching a case. This, however, was Mr. Heiney's reaction. Mr. Heiney simply surveyed the current "chic" arguments and then sought to circumvent the two year time bar with a "consolidated" motion which purportedly combined eight new claims (a new petition) with four "reheard" claims (actually, just reargued).

The trial court detected the ruse and rejected the improper successive petition under the two year time bar. ⁴ The trial court relied upon the two part test set out in **Eutzy** v. **State, 14** F.L.W. 76 (Fla. 1989); to-wit:

- (1) A successive claim must involve a newly recognized fundamental constitutional right that has been held to have retroactive application.
- (2) Or, a successive claim must be based upon newly discovered evidence which, by diligent search, could not have been uncovered before.

Applying this test to Heiney's successive petition, we find:

While first petitions may be amended, Woods v. **State**, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988), the trial court did allow amendments for two years whenever Heiney wanted them. The ruse of using post-judgment rehearings or amendments to sneak new issues before the court is not permitted on appeal in this Court and should not be sanctioned in the lower courts. See Parker v. **Dugger**, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1989).

Claim I (Witholding Cook's Name)

- (A) Brady is not (and was not) new law and could have been argued before.
- (B) Heiney's opening statement at trial admitted that he and May traveled alone from Texas to Missouri, where they went, alone, to Mays' mother's home. Later, Heiney says a phantom hitchhiker killed May while he (Heiney) stole May's car and wallet (credit cards). This "Phillip Cook could have done it" issue is illusory and contrary to Heiney's trial defense. Heiney admits he was there for May's robbery, if not his death. If Cook "really" did the killing, Heiney (by diligent search or his touted "cooperation" with the police) could have developed the issue before now.

Claim II (Tuszynski 11)

- (A) No new law applies.
- (B) Heiney deposed Tuszynski and called him a liar before trial, so (B) does not help him. Cumulative evidence is not "new" evidence.

Claim III (Hitchcock)

Resolved above.

Claim IV (Jury Override)

This is mere reargument, using **Hitchcock** of Heiney's **Lockett** claim on direct appeal.

Claim V (Medical Incompetence)

The two year time bar has already been applied to this suddenly popular claim. Eutzy v. State, 14 F.L.W. 176 (1989).

Claim VI (Ineffective Trial Counsel)

Another Faretta-based claim that clearly fails the Eutzy test.

Claim VII (Heinous/Atrocious/Cruel)

This claim falls within the class of time-barred claims. Atkins v. Dugger, 14 F.L.W. 207, 208 (Fla. 1989).

Claim VIII (Preclusion of Cross Examination)

- (A) No new law applies.
- (B) The issue was obviously known back at trial.

Claim IX (Faretta Violation-

- (A) No new law applies.
- (B) Heiney, as co-counsel, knew what happened but registered no objections and did not raise the subject on appeal.

Claim X ("Automatic Aggravating Factor")

This issue was also noted as time barred in Atkins, supra.

Claim XI (Non-Statutory Aggravating Factors)

- (A) No "new law" is involved.
- (B) This issue was raised on appeal so (B) does not apply.

Claim XII (Burden of Proof)

This new bit of sophistry regarding "shifting" burdens of persuasion - not proof - during an equitable sentencing proceeding before a purely advisory jury has been recognized as subject to the two-year time bar in Atkins, supra.

It is clear that Heiney's twelve new claims would fail as procedurally barred even if they were not time barred as part of a second successive petition. They all involve claims that could have been developed and presented on direct appeal.

CONCLUSION

The trial court did not err in its summary denial of Heiney's two successive 3.850 petitions.